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Brief History
of
St. Isabel Mission
Lukachukai, Arizona

br. Emanuel Trockur, 0. F. M.
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At the Foot of Lu.'r:.a.::hukai Mts.
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St. Isabel Mission — Lukachukai
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Inanarticle written in- 1915, Fr. Anselm Weber relors 1o a
visit which he and Fr. Leopold kad made to Tsehili Fifeaen Vs
befare as the “first beginning” of a mision 8t Lukachukai. The
two padres hail gone there for 2 meeting with Tndians a1 the home
of Charley Mitchell - Purpoce of the mesting was o persiade
soatte of the MNavajos of that region to send their children 1o St
Catherine Indian School in Santa Fe which was eonducted by the
sisters of the Blessed Sacrament.

Mather Katharine Drexel. foundress of this commmunity of His.
ters, was planning ot the time 1o build & schioal for Mavajo chil-
dren near the reservation at St Mickinels and, by having a number
of pupils from that tribe attend her seheol in Senta Fe, she huoped
W acquaint the Indians with her educational Pragram - and Lo
arouge their intorest in schooling,

At this meeting, Fr. Anselin velates, he learned For the first
time of Lukachukai. Here he met Tsiishbizhi | Braided Hiar),
an influential headman and leader from that disteict, who lishen.
ed with rapt attention as Fr. Anselm spoke. Like Old Silver
smith, Braided Hair had up 6ll now violenily cpposed education,
particularly protesting - against  havieg children  taken off 1o
schools far away from their homes, but the friars words WETE 50
straightforward and convincing that be then and there offered
o send one of his sons and a nephew to St Catherine schoal.

A few davs later Benided Tlais s Charley Mitchell wera o
their way to Santa Fe, accompanying Fr. Anselm who was 1ok
ing five bovs to the sisters’ school. The brief visiy during which
they hal the good Tortune to meet Mother Kathasine persnntly,
mat%n A strong impression upon the Indian Teaders, she now -
came zealous defenders of educatinn. Az a result many of the
fiest pupils who attended 51, Michael school which opened in the
fall of 1902, came from their districts, and, due 1o thelr influence
and interest, the school in later vears had little difficulty in ob-
lining pupils to its capaeity. : :



Father Anselm hegan in 1903 to make occasional visits o
Lukachukai uwsually saying Mass at Braided Hair's home, Un
each trip he became more and more convinced that here wes a
favorable locality for a mission. As was his commen ohservation
throughont Mavajoe land, this was not a village, he preferred o
call it a “vicinity™ in which he found a geodly number of MNava-
jos living in scatiered homes that dotted the valley at the foot of
the Taukachukai mountains, They were theifty and progressive
in their own primitive way and irrigated small fields of corn,
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alfalfz, wheat, beans and melons by means of ditches that di-
vorted the waters from two streams originating in the moun-
Tariens.

Preaccupivd  with the thought of adopling the very  success
ful mrethods of his illustrious confrere, Friar Junipero Serra, in
Calilornia less than 150 vears before, Fr. Anselm envisioned,
thowgh not on so pretentions a scale, a happy amd thriving colony
of Mavajo farmers at Lukachukai. Furthermere, by this tine ma-
ny children from this area had completed the courses offered by



St. Michael school; they had been baptized. made their first Holy
Communion apd had been instructed in the Catholie Faith, New
they were living back bBome, 75 to 100 miles from St Michaels
with little opportunity to practice their religion. The need of fol-
low-up work was obvious, for, unless a peiest could keep in con-
tact with these Tormer pupils snd make it possible for them to
attend Mass and veceive the sacraments, the results of theie Ca-
tholic education would come 1o naught,

The Indians too, wished to have a padre living among them
and they frequently bepged for a c]mr-:ih atl a rdssionary, Lack
of Tunds and personnel prevented compliance with their wishes
end although he could not even surmise whence he might obtain
the necessary financtal means, Fr. Anselm promized 1o establish
a mission here at some future time,

On Detober 1909 Fr, Anselm came o Lukachukai For the
last might of a Yeibichzi dance, which was attended by Indisns
from &ll points en the reservation, MNext morning after conclusion
of the dance he met with the lozal Navajes 1o anoounce 1o them
that he was at last prepared 1o ercct a chapel for ther. with o
roomt for the visiting padre, provided they would give him a
prece of land on which to h1|1'l:ij,

Having given their unanimous consent o de this, they led him
W a point where they indicaled o plot that they wished o offer
him. He prompily secured a deseviption of the tract, which he
igcluded 1noa pelilion, directed to the Secretary of the Intevior,
reuesting that it be el aside for missionary purposes . Thirty-
three hesds of families affived their signatures (Chimb prints)
and the request was delivered o the apent at Fort Deliance, who
forwiarded 1t to ¥Wazhingion, '

Criv this tract was a speing which had always been held sacrad
and which is known in the  MNavajo legenis as flobd’ ol ees,
which means: i i sramped pwr, According o the story g sep-
eenl of the wibe, the Buffale People, had left the San Francisco
Peaks country in the West and were journeving eastward to-
ward the sacred mountain in New Mexico, When they arrived
al the foot of the Lukachukal mountains they searched in vain
for water smd soon they wviere suffering from thirst, Stoimping



the ground. it gradually  became moist amid after & while there
was enough water for all to drink. To this day this spring yiekds
an abundant supply of sparkling, clear water, 1L
Approvirl of the grant followed on Decémber 18, 1908, but
corstraction of the chapel was ool begon uetl July 13, 1910,
after work on Annunciation  Chapel at Chinle was well under
wav. M W F Hildebrand, wha supervised the erection of the
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Firat Chapel at Lukachukai

Chinle chapel. also contracted For the Lukachukai building: ws-
ing the same plans, he added two small § x S-fool rooms in the
rear-to-be fitled oul a5 sacristyoand Diving roosm,

Funds for the chapel were obtained chiefly Brom three bene-
factors, among whom was Mre, James |. Condon of Jersey City.
M. I.. who contributed ever 850000 in memory of his deceased
wife, Mrs Isabel Condon. At his request the mission was dedi-



cated to 5t Isabel of Portugal in cecemonies conducted by Fr.
Anzelmi on June 22, 1912,

With the tolal cost of building alone amounting o F2,240.82
and a still impaid*debt of 300,00, plastering,  interior Witlting
and decorating and procuring of all but egsential furnishings ha
to he postponed, Fe, Marcellos Troester, assistant to Fro Leopold
at. Chinle, wow hegan to attend o this mission, roaking regebar
vizits for a few days each month except in the winier lime wien
must of the Indians moved away with theie flocks. A bell, donat-
ed by a danghler of Mo Condon, announced the arrival of the
missiomary and the time for Mass and religions instructions,

At Blessing of the Bell

In 1414 the government hegon to build & day school only @
short” distance from the mission  and now the Indians acped
stronger than ever for a resident priest, Their pleas were presented
to the Provincial Board in Cincinnali and  their wishes finally
caree true in Awgust, 1915 when Fr. Berard Iaile, who had been
at 5t Michaels since the year 1900, was appointed the Tiest Fﬁtm‘
of 5t Tsabel Mission, Brother Gervase Thiemmel was transterred
from Chinle and assigned as his companion and helper,

They took up residence shortly thereafter, rather, they moved

into the one building which compriged the mission at that time,
but which had not been planned as a permeanent residence. The



1w small rooms at the rear of the chapel were converted into
kitchen, dining room and  sitting room and  the chapel  itself
which, unfinished and undecorated, presented *an almesphers
of extreme poverty,” had to serve as dormitery and store room.
Moro spacious living quarters were absolutely needed and the
friars promptly tonk upon themsalves the tazk of {:-ruvitling ther.
First plans to build of logs were quickly abandened and they
decidad to use stone which was available less than a mile away,
The site was staked off and ground broken on August 24
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5t, Isabel Mission

All thought of engaging mazons or carpeniers or plumbers had
to he disrmissed, Payment of wapes for impocied labovers 1o this
isnlated vegion: would have rapidly depleted the mission “treas-
ury”" whick, aswas then the case and still is o this day. showed
a recaper balance, Fortunately Brother Goevase, by his experionce
gained, during his years at Chinle, bad developad into an expert
stonie vearker and. he swas only too glad to undertake the joboof
architect and builder. ¥ithin a very short timoe beand 5 ogroup




of Indians had quarried & total of 200 leads of rock, These,
together with 30 leads of sand, were hauled to the site in the
space of three days. Adobe, which was used as mortar, was
rght at hand.

Constroction began immediately and, with the help of a Navajo
stone mason and two other Indians who mixed the mortar and
carried the hod, the walls were completed before Christmasz with
an outlay of a little more than S600,

The remaining construction work, such a% carpentry, plumbing,
et was done tgu:r the most part by the two friars themselves,
Lumber was purchased from the government savwmill, 40 miles
away and other materfals had to be haoled all the way from
Gallup, & diztance of more than 90 miles, at an average freighting
cost of one cent per mile per hundred weight. 'I'r.-l;f cost of the
new residence, which was completed in 1016, was slightly in
axcess of B2 00

The government school at Lnkachukai was opened in the fall
of 101G with an enrollment of 21 pupils, From the very beginning
Navajo parents objected to having their childeen walk a long
distance to school and in order to placate them Superintendent
Peter Pagquette set a two-rmile limit within which %: expectad
all children of school age to attend: at the same time he promised
o rake every offort to have the government arvange for the
establishment of a boarding school

Averapge attendance for the fivst year was about 16 pupils
daily: toward the end of the school term awd v the early fall
it frequently dwindled to two or three pupils who managed to
arrive just i time for the noonday meal <= a clear indication
that the day school ides was not being favorably accepted.

The scheol continued to “eperate” for several vears but despite
repeated urgings and warnings, the attitude of the Navajos re-
mained. unchanged. Tt was thevefore closed and felt in charge
of a carotaker,

Also attended 1o from S0, Isabel  wers two mission stations:
Taelthehidabaskam, (Bed Rock}, on the easl zide of the rmoantain
where Fr. Anselin had rented o stone building from an Indian and
which wag visited monthly when road conditions permitted; and



Taehili; about 15 miles o the south, where veligions services were
held in the home of Charley Mitchell o

A few yedrs after ity enmpletion the original church bwnlding
at” Lukachukai was 5eriﬂu5ﬂv damaged by what was at first
helisved to have been an carthguake: most lkely though, the
damage was caused by o settlin of the foundation. By this time
there had visen the need of a E(HIEL‘ for an interpreter and his

At St Izabel Mission—Luliachuleai

family and. after the old strocture was repaired and remodeled
to gerve that perpose, the friars, in 1922, began the construction
of & new chiesh.

Dispencing, as in the previous project, with architects and
detailed Elie prints, they contented themselves with rough pencil
sketches Tor the general plans of an artistic c¢hurch in Spanish-
Bozmnesque style. The n];d quarry Frome which the material for



the residence bad been taken supplied the grayish.white samd-
stone for the main walls. Father Berard freighted most of the
other needed materials by truck from Gallup, Dedication of the
church was delaved and finally took place October 14, 1028,
Fr, Emanuel Trockur, 0. F. M. conducting the ceremonies.

On Movember 8, 1928, Mother Katharine Drexel, by arrange-
ment with the Indian Service, took over the sovernment school
buildiegs nearby for operation of o mission scheol and medical
dispenicery.  WMist Pose Jaegle. of - Cincinnati,  Ohio, held  the
positton of matron, Miss Anne Gray, of Maddletown, Connecticut,
wirs the teacher and Mrs. Cordelia Kell, of  Falton, Missourd: bad
c]m:‘ﬁ;n ol ke dispensary. Adter two years Dliss Gray and hliss
Taegle wern succended by a Navajo couple, Mr. and Mrs. John
Watchman: Mrs. Iell remained five more vears after which
the project was discontinued.

A combination community houze - chapsl, erected under the
direstion of Fro Clementin Wattle, 00 F ML, was dedicated “at
Lsehili on June 8. 1943 by His Excellency, Bishop Fspelage, of
Gallup. More than 700 Indisns attended the rveligions ceremony
which was followed by & barkeeve dinner prepared by the Indians
themeelvez,  An  afteymoom - program  consisted of - speeches by
government and tribal officials, including - Chee  Dodge,  and
closed with telks by the Bishop and by Fr. Anselm  Sippel,
superior of the Navaje missions,

The building is constructed of adobe and has a seabing caps-
ity of about A00; it has heen so arranged that the aliar may be
elosed off from the main assembly seetion, which can then be
used for social and business meefings, Holy Mass s said here
every Thuesday Trom Mav to November, weather and road
condition:  permitting.

Stll another mission station was established at Round Rock,
13 miles west of Lukachukai, where Mass was said Tor the first
time in an Indian home on Mav 6, 1944 A amall chapel was
comipleted in the fall of 1953 and divine services are held here
regularly cach Sunday at 9 o'clock. The Red Rock station, across
the mountain, has for many vears been it the care of mission-
aries residing at Shiprock.



Sixty miles from government headquarters, Lukachukai is fre-
quently inaccessible, during the winter for months at a tume be-
couze of heavy snows and in the rainy season, following the hacd
raing which make the voads impassable. Through all these years
the tnhabitants of this vast region had been without a doctor or
hospital. The feiars, therefore, were constantly called upon 1o
provide relief in the form of cough medicines, aspivins, salves,
liniments, ete. for the unfortunate sick and injured,
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Dispensary Visitors, Lukachukai Mission

Only at fong intervals did government field nurses and doctors
vigit the district but even then the seriously afflicted had to be
eransportad 1o a distant hospital, either at Chinle or Fort Deliance.
Pleas of the Indians for a permenent medical  establishment
wenl unheeded by the Indian Service,

Fr Olese Brickwes, O, B. WL, who heads 51, Isabel Mission
today, came to Lukachukai on February 1, 1851, His predecessors



hud muode zeveral attempis at haviog sisters take over medical and
social work here, but it was only afler the Hospital Sisters of
5t Francis, Springfield, Nlinois, had come to Gallup in the fall
af 1949 that hopes for such o project began to brighten.

These sisters were especially fitted for this type of work and

Forty Hours" Devotion at Lukachukai

when Father Thomas Blomsirem, who preceded Fr. Blase. wold
them of the plight of his Indians, they became interested. They
were anvited to visit Lukachukai and a hurried observation of con-
ditions sufficed to convince Sister Mary Jean and her COmIpa-



iom, Sr, Mary “Josefibine that here was a field m which they
coubd oo much valuable mission work.

After Sister Mary - Magdalen, Vice-Provincial. visited  Luka-
chukai on May 22, 1952, it was tentatively agreed that their
cormmmunity  would accept this new project, subject oo the ap-
proval of their Mother General in Germany. There was much
rejoicing mnong the Nevejos when the report was sproad . thit
thiy Bishop and the friars had prevailed upon the sisters to come
here to conduct 5 medical dispensary.

Mow for the second time the origmal church was scheduled
for remodeling. The menth of August found & crew of men ex-
cavating & cellar for furnace room and laundry; carpenters were
busy erecting - partitions to divide the building  into mine  small
roors comprising chapel, =acristy, kotchen, dining and reception
room:, and four tiny cells with only enoogh space fora bed, &
chair and wash stand,

Official approval by the Mother General come lesz than a
vear later and the welcome news was relayed to Fr. Blase on
.-";P]'i.f 31955 O ane 17 Siter Mo Damacene, wha had - thir-
teen years of missionary experience in Ching, and Sister B,
Carola arrived at Lukachukai to make a beginning of their work
among the Indians at St Isabel; at first they spent only two days
coch week treating patients who came 1o the dispensary which
wis located inoa small room of the vectory, The very first day
was given to arranging the dizpenzery and on the following day
they gave medical treatment 1o 21 patients, including o medicine
man who had corracted @ sore threcat performing an all-night
CUre Coramony.

This plan meart & weekly trip of alrost 200 miles by the
shorter route gnd e of nesirly 300 miles by g 'I-:unﬂm'__ e ;m”_I__r_h
vongds which on occasions swere barely passahla owing o the sim
rber rainsE, Alter sopce time Lhe Man was .::Emngml_ areil thie gistors
spent an entire week here. Later on they returned 1o Gallup
only once & month for theiv Day of Recollection an Fiest Fridays.

Meanwhile their residence was slowly but surely being com.
pleted. and the first Mass was celehrated on a temporary altar



in their private chapel on November 19, 1053, Following the
installation of & beautiful altar, pews and tabernacle — a Christ-
mas gift from St Paschal's Mission Circle of Cleveland, Ohio —
the little chapel and Convent were blessed by Fr. Blase on Jan-
wary 20, 1954 and titled The Tmmaculate Heart of Mary,

At this writing {September, 1936), an addition s being an-
nexed (0 the comvent on the north and before the snow ies a
well-equipped - dispensary will be in - opstion, replacing  the
cramped quarters heretofore serving that purpose i the friars
residenca.

Four sisters reside at Lukachukai and hesides their regrilar
duties in the convent and medical dispensary they wvisit Indians
throughout the district. conducting medical” clinies - and giving
religious instructions; they alin assist the padrees with their eat-
echism classes which are held one hour each weok for the 200
pupils encolled in the povernment hoarding schoal nearby.

Assisting Fro Blase are Fro Martan Rademaker and Brother
Francis X. Evans. Since the opening of this mission 41 YIS
ape, 1,734 Mavajos have been baptized,
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The narme. Lefochuko, 15 an anghozed version of the MNavaje
werids which describe the locality: [, reeds and - offogo,
white spruce, and hence would indicate the place of the reeds
where the mountain slope 15 white with, or covered with white,
EruCe Irees,

[n the broad Lukachukai valley, which extends westward from
the mountains that tower to an elevalion of more than 9,000 feet
above sea lovel, there s & rank growth of sage brush. The sadl
i particularly fertile and the sage plant often attains & height of
five and seven fest; two live streame, the o Tso and the Duaka-
ofinefat Creeks, which wind theough the valley, provide a cone
stlerahle amount of water for domestic and agricultival needs.
The high altitude rmakes for a short growing seasom, so that cer-
tain crops will not mature,
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The Padic”, Trail  Froee
S5, Michads, Aroona



